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          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Good morning, and

          3  welcome to this hearing of Consumer Affairs

          4  Committee.

          5                 I am Philip Reed, Chair of the

          6  Committee, and I am joined this morning by our

          7  colleagues on the Committee Maria del Carmen Arroyo

          8  from the Bronx, Charles Barron from Brooklyn, and

          9  Oliver Koppell also from the Bronx.  Welcome.

         10                 Other members of the Committee are

         11  coming to join us.  One is chairing a committee next

         12  door, so indulge us if we have to take care of some

         13  housekeeping, in and out.

         14                 This morning we will review the issue

         15  of movie show time disclosures in commercial

         16  advertising.  Nearly all movie theaters commonly run

         17  between 10 and 20 minutes of pre- feature

         18  commercials, including trailers for upcoming films

         19  prior to the main presentation.

         20                 However, as movie advertisements have

         21  evolved from simple slide shows for commercial

         22  businesses into long format commercials generating

         23  hundreds of millions of dollars annually, theaters

         24  and distributors have seen an increase in audience

         25  criticism.  Complaints generally address two issues.
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          2                 First, many filmgoers have reached

          3  the conclusion that theater film distributors

          4  intentionally misstate start times to ensure captive

          5  audience for advertisements, and future release

          6  previews.

          7                 Secondly, critics of these

          8  advertisements debate whether movie theaters, which

          9  charge consumers for tickets and concessions, should

         10  even permit commercials.

         11                 In an effort to address this concern,

         12  the Committee is conducting its first hearing on

         13  Intro. 563, a proposal that would require all

         14  theaters that sell admission to motion pictures to

         15  disclose the actual start time of the films in all

         16  media advertisements.

         17                 Each violation would carry a civil

         18  penalty of between $500 and $1,000 dollars, my

         19  goodness.   Well you know, the cell phone bill which

         20  I am the author of in case anybody forgot, you only

         21  got $50 for that, so, I see we have a little equity

         22  here.               At least one jurisdiction, the

         23  state of Connecticut is also considering similar

         24  legislation.

         25                 In response to that states proposal,
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          2  Loew's Cineplex, one of the Nation's largest theater

          3  chains recently announced its plan to indicate that

          4  films would start 10 to 15 minutes subsequent to the

          5  advertised show time in all Connecticut movie

          6  theaters.

          7                 This Committee has invited the

          8  Administration, business organizations, advocacy

          9  groups, and other interested parties to provide

         10  testimony on this issue.

         11                 Additionally, the Committee intends

         12  to vote out proposed Intro. 491- A, a bill relating

         13  to street vendors.  If enacted, the bill would

         14  repeal the language of the Administrative Code that

         15  requires applicants for general and food vendor

         16  licenses to provide proof to the Department of

         17  Consumer Affairs and the Department of Health, that

         18  he or she is a permanent resident or an alien

         19  permitted to work in the United States.  If the

         20  applicant is not a citizen of the United States, the

         21  repeal sections would be replaced by language

         22  mandating that no city employee ask the immigration

         23  or citizenship status of any person applying for a

         24  general or a food vending license.

         25                 Additionally, the language which I
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          2  would add, is the case now for any other license

          3  that the Department of Consumer Affairs issues.

          4  Additionally that language of the Local Law would

          5  make it clear that information about an applicants'

          6  immigration status would have no effect on the

          7  application or renewal of either vendors license.

          8                 Proposed Intro. 491- A encourages

          9  equality and entrepreneurship by providing greater

         10  access to vending licenses.

         11                 The Committee has held a hearing on

         12  this bill on May 4th, and it received support from

         13  vendors and the Administration.

         14                 I would also like to give Council

         15  Member Charles Barron, the prime sponsor of this

         16  legislation, an opportunity to make some opening

         17  remarks.

         18                 Thank you all for your attendance at

         19  today's hearings.

         20                 Council Member Barron.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Thank you

         22  very much, Chairman Reed, and I would like to thank

         23  you for your assistance in seeing that this bill

         24  gets a hearing and also gets enacted and voted on.

         25  I want to thank you very much on behalf of the
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          2  immigrants of New York City who are seeking vendors

          3  license.

          4                 This bill, we are very, very pleased

          5  to say will not allow the permitting process for

          6  getting vendors license or allow any agencies to act

          7  as a cop for INS.  That is something that I do not

          8  think that we are here to do.  It is a form of

          9  discrimination against immigrants, immigrants who

         10  make up a large part of this city, and who

         11  contribute tremendously to the cultural capital of

         12  this city, the intellectual capital of this city,

         13  and certainly the economic capital of this city.

         14  They have decided that they would take matters into

         15  their own hand, become entrepreneurs, and create

         16  work for themselves.  The least we could do is make

         17  the licensing process fair to them, as it is to

         18  everyone else, and that is what this bill does.

         19                 So, I want to thank you once again

         20  Mr. Chair, and on behalf of the immigrants of New

         21  York City, we are very indebted to you and we thank

         22  you for your assistance in this process and this

         23  law.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 Would the clerk call the roll on this

          3  please?

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Council Member Reed.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, I want

          6  to thank Council Member Barron for introducing this

          7  bill.

          8                 As many of you know, we are looking

          9  at the issue of vending across the board, and there

         10  are other proposals out here. The one piece that

         11  everybody agreed to, which was also included in the

         12  larger omnibus bill, by virtue of the silence on

         13  that, is a part of the Code, was that this really

         14  have been discriminatory and unfair for a long

         15  period of time that we were requiring of only one

         16  license out of the 50- some odd that the Department

         17  of Consumer Affairs issues to require working papers

         18  for people who are here, trying to be industrious,

         19  to support their family.

         20                 So, I am please that we have all come

         21  together to change that part of the Administrative

         22  Code as it relates to vendors.

         23                 Unfortunately, until we change and

         24  adopt new language and new resolutions around the

         25  whole concept of vending, it is somewhat mute
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          2  because you still cannot get a license because there

          3  is a cap on the number of licenses.

          4                 So, I would encourage those who are

          5  supportive of this legislation to also look,

          6  perhaps, a little more thoughtfully at the proposed

          7  621, I think it is, and understand what it is that

          8  we are trying to do.

          9                 As in most legislation, you are not

         10  going to get everything that you want but I would

         11  encourage the immigrant community and their

         12  advocates to look carefully at the proposed bills

         13  that we have, and see that in that, we are calling

         14  for increase in the number of licenses, perhaps not

         15  as many as people want, and to begin to be more

         16  supportive of this, so that what we are doing today

         17  in removing the stigma attached to this particular

         18  license, and this particular group as it relates to

         19  vending, really becomes a reality in terms of them

         20  having the opportunity to work and support their

         21  families.

         22                 Having said that, I vote aye on this

         23  bill.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Barron.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  I just wanted
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          2  to say also very briefly that I am going to continue

          3  to work with you on the larger vendor issues that is

          4  in this city, and I want to commend you for, at

          5  least, opening up the streets that were not formally

          6  opening or proposing to do that, streets that could

          7  not be vended on before- in your legislation now can

          8  be vended on, and to increase the number, the cap on

          9  the license is also, I think, something that is

         10  sorely needed, and I think that we can work through

         11  some of the other things if people come to these

         12  hearings with a more cooperative spirit, and working

         13  with us to work out those things that people have

         14  some concerns about.

         15                 I am very optimistic about what could

         16  happen with the larger vendor question.

         17                 With that, I proudly vote aye on this

         18  bill so we can allow immigrants not to be questioned

         19  about their immigration status when they go for

         20  licenses.

         21                 This is a great day for New York

         22  City, and its immigrants.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Koppell.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Liu.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Mr. Chairman,

          4  may I be excused to explain my vote?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  With that

          6  impeccable timing, of course.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  I want to thank

          8  your staff for that impeccable timing.  I am

          9  chairing a hearing next door, and I have to get back

         10  to that.

         11                 I do want to thank you for bringing

         12  this issue up to a vote.

         13                 This is about basic governance in New

         14  York City.  We have- we should be engaged in the

         15  business of determining who gets licenses but there

         16  are some questions that are on the application today

         17  that are simply irrelevant as to whether someone

         18  should get a vendors license or not, and this

         19  legislation sponsored by Council Member Barron would

         20  go towards correcting that issue.

         21                 We should collect information that is

         22  necessary to determine who gets a vendors license

         23  and, any irrelevant information should simply not be

         24  collected.

         25                 I vote in favor, yes, on this bill.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Arroyo.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of 5 in the

          5  affirmative, zero in the negative, and no

          6  abstentions, the item is adopted.            Council

          7  members please sign the Committee Report, thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, and I

          9  would ask that the record remain open, the vote, we

         10  have other members of the committee that have

         11  indicated, not only their support, but their wanting

         12  to vote on this legislation, and I know that they

         13  are on their way here.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Mr.

         15  Chairman, with apologies, I am dividing my time

         16  between both hearings so I will return but I have to

         17  go next door for a little while.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I understand,

         19  thank you council member.

         20                 Let us begin our hearing on Intro.

         21  563, that is why we have staff, thank you very much.

         22

         23                 The prime sponsor of the bill, Gale

         24  Brewer, is unfortunately late.  I guess she did not

         25  understand that when this Chair says the meeting
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          2  starts at 10, there are no previews or entertainment

          3  or advertisement.

          4                 Having said that, she will be

          5  adequately chastised when she gets here.

          6                 Nevertheless, may we hear from the

          7  Administration on this bill please?

          8                 You are flying solo today, Miss

          9  Toole?

         10                 MS. TOOLE:  So far.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay.

         12                 MS. TOOLE:  Good morning Chairman

         13  Reed, and members of the Committee.

         14                 I am Pauline Toole, an Assistant

         15  Commissioner at the New York City Department of

         16  Consumer Affairs.

         17                 Before I begin testimony about Intro.

         18  563, I want to commend the Committee for passing

         19  Intro. 491- A.  It is as people have noted, the only

         20  one of the licenses that we administer where the law

         21  requires us to ask about citizenship, and we agree

         22  with the Council, wholeheartedly, that that is

         23  inappropriate and look forward to the bill signing.

         24                 Today Intro. 63 (sic), which would

         25  require movie theaters to disclose the actual
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          2  starting time of movies.

          3                 The Department has discussed this

          4  proposal with both movie theater managers, and a few

          5  dozen avid moviegoers, and we do not believe the

          6  proposal is necessary.

          7                 In researching this proposal, we

          8  learned that there are basically four types of

          9  messages typically shown at movie houses: Commercial

         10  advertising, previews of upcoming attractions, the

         11  theater's policy message telling customers to turn

         12  off their cell phones, be considerate of others and

         13  such information, and the feature presentation.

         14                 I may come as no surprise that

         15  different theater chains use different formats to

         16  present these messages.  The majority of movie

         17  theater chains operating in the City show commercial

         18  advertisements before the stated show time.  So,

         19  while a consumer is getting herself situated, some

         20  commercial message or other is running.  But, at the

         21  stated show time, the theaters run previews, which

         22  many people consider entertainment, the policy

         23  message and then the feature presentation.

         24                 A smaller number of movie chains

         25  begins the entire sequence at the stated show time,
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          2  running commercials, then previews, then the policy

          3  message and the feature film.

          4                 At least one of these chains, Loews,

          5  which operates fourteen theaters in the City, and is

          6  based in the City, is experimenting out- of- town

          7  with a standard notice to inform customers that the

          8  feature presentation will begin ten minutes or so

          9  after the start time listed.

         10                 Every single theater representative

         11  stated that the movie theaters did not discourage

         12  people from talking during the commercials, and some

         13  do not even darken the theater until after the

         14  commercials are shown.

         15                 Theater representatives also told us

         16  about the difficulty in stating actual show times.

         17                 First, apparently, commercials run

         18  for varied lengths; one might be 31 seconds, another

         19  60 seconds, and it is the same with previews.  And,

         20  apparently, the theaters might be required by

         21  distributors to run certain previews that had not

         22  been anticipated when they made their advertising

         23  buy.  So, there would be great difficulty in

         24  anticipating the exact starting time of the feature

         25  presentation in advertisements.
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          2                 An informal survey of a few dozen

          3  moviegoers indicates that consumers doubt they would

          4  benefit much by knowing a feature presentation

          5  started ten minutes later than the show time.  The

          6  New Yorkers we asked, said they needed to be at the

          7  theater before the show time in order to get a good

          8  seat or to get popcorn before the show.  While

          9  people grumbled a little at seeing a commercial, it

         10  seemed to be a petty annoyance.  Commercials

         11  permeate our culture one said, and many moviegoers,

         12  myself included, think that previews are a treat,

         13  not something to be avoided.

         14                 Turning to some of the technical

         15  issues, the bill does not define media

         16  advertisements.

         17                 Does it include movie timetables in

         18  the newspapers? These generally are listings created

         19  by the papers as a public service, and there are

         20  First Amendment issues with regulating newspapers in

         21  this manner.  The papers cannot be mandated to

         22  confirm with the theaters the actual show times.

         23                 Newspaper ads?  If the latter, it

         24  would seem the Council again would raise commercial

         25  speech and enforcement concerns by prescribing that
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          2  such advertisements shall state the time a movie

          3  begins.  It is important to note that many

          4  advertisements for movies are from distributors- not

          5  the theaters that show the film, and some of these

          6  advertisements do not disclose movies times at all.

          7  Some, but not all, provide the name and phone number

          8  of the theater to check for show times.

          9                 Would the theater phone message need

         10  to disclose two sets of times?  Or even just the

         11  start time of the feature presentation, fooling

         12  people who want to get their popcorn and a seat

         13  before the theater goes dark.

         14                 Or is it the box office signage where

         15  these disclosures belong?  None of this is clear

         16  from the text of the bill.

         17                 The Department believes it is

         18  impractical and ill advised to devote the City's

         19  resources to inspect for actual show time of feature

         20  presentations compared to the time advertised.

         21  However, if this were to become law, we would urge

         22  the Council to give DCA hearing authority over

         23  violations so that enforcement could be effective.

         24                 It is the view of DCA that the agency

         25  should focus on issues that do the greatest harm to
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          2  the greatest number- tow companies that illegally

          3  take peoples' cars and overcharge, home improvement

          4  contractors who leave a job half- finished and

          5  disappear, employment agencies that defraud people

          6  just trying to get a job, stores selling fake guns

          7  that put children and cops at risk.

          8                 We would ask the Council to think

          9  long and hard about whether a movie theater showing

         10  a few commercials rises to that level, and we think

         11  it does not.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

         14                 So you think that, if I am

         15  understanding this, you really do not think that

         16  this bill has any merit?

         17                 MS. TOOLE:  We do not think a

         18  legislative solution is required.

         19                 So yes, that would be true.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I just think some

         21  of your comments are a little disingenuous,

         22  particularly as you talk about the listing of the

         23  movie times in the newspaper, that being something

         24  that we might worry about in terms of First

         25  Amendment, and I think that the newspapers get the
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          2  times from the theater owners and operators.  They

          3  did not print it themselves as some editorial

          4  comment.

          5                 MS. TOOLE:  Right, but they get the

          6  times the movie theaters give them, that is true,

          7  but you cannot mandate them to show- to give a

          8  different time, to list a different time in the

          9  newspaper.  It is not something the movie theaters

         10  pay for.  It is a public service, a newspaper could

         11  stop doing it tomorrow.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well, that is true

         13  but I think if the bill was passed, therefore,

         14  mandating that the theater owners, in fact, post the

         15  time, then they would, I would think, following

         16  that, give those times to the newspaper.  But, we

         17  could certainly address that in terms of the

         18  language of the legislation.  I just think trying to

         19  apply some standard that this might violate the

         20  First Amendment, is a bit of a stretch, and I am

         21  mindful in this area of theaters and entertainment,

         22  et cetera, et cetera, that this very same

         23  Administration scoffed at and thought there was no

         24  value to the cell phone legislation.

         25                 In fact, the Mayor went so far as to
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          2  veto the cell phone legislation and then the Council

          3  overwhelmingly overroad that, and albeit I am

          4  somewhat biased, I have not met one person as a

          5  theater goer, a movie goer, that thought that that

          6  bill was wrong.

          7                 So, I am just curious, I mean maybe

          8  this is the same standard that the Department of

          9  Consumer Affairs Administration is taking about

         10  entertainment.  I do not know.  That is not a

         11  question, that is a statement, Miss Toole, but so I

         12  am just concerned about that.

         13                 We have finally been joined by the

         14  sponsor of this legislation who is one of my closest

         15  colleagues in the Council, but there is not a member

         16  of this Committee that does not know that we start

         17  on time, and nevertheless, I do want to give her an

         18  opportunity to address her bill.

         19                 Council Member Brewer.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I apologize,

         21  I made a mistake and went to a graduation, and you

         22  are going to kill me.  I apologize.

         23                 This is the issue, I think that the

         24  question of whether it is frivolous or not- many of

         25  the theaters, one of the theaters in particular, has
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          2  started to implement this.  One could argue that it

          3  could be done by the theaters on their own.  On the

          4  other hand, it is my experience and I think Council

          5  Member Reed's example of his cell phone bill is one.

          6    You could have said that the theaters on their own

          7  could suggest that people turn off the cell phones,

          8  and some people did, some people did not.

          9                 It is a huge incentive when you are

         10  in the theater and you hear a cell phone to know

         11  that the law is behind you, and it takes away that

         12  ambiguity.

         13                 So I would say the same thing with

         14  this.  It is an issue of the fact that it would be

         15  great if everybody let people know but they do not.

         16  And so, you do need something behind it, some teeth.

         17    That is why we suggest this bill, it is because it

         18  would make sense for a quality of life, and it does

         19  make sense because as a person sitting there you,

         20  obviously, cannot get rid of the advertisements.

         21                 So, that is why we feel it should be

         22  stronger than a opportunity to do it if the theater

         23  so desires.

         24                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  A question of the
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          2  Administration?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Well, I think

          4  that the question is, do you really feel that the

          5  theaters would do this on their own?

          6                 What kind of assurance do you think

          7  we could get for them?

          8                 MS. TOOLE:  Well, I think you would

          9  need to ask that of the theater owners, obviously,

         10  but my impression is that it depends on what people

         11  find to be obnoxious, and that is what this is about

         12  is legislating some standard of what people think is

         13  obnoxious behavior in the theater.

         14                 A lot of people like movie previews,

         15  and so, if the start time takes those out of the

         16  equation, that is going to be a problem for people,

         17  and I think the theater owners are not going to be

         18  too receptive to doing that.  The majority of the

         19  chains in the City show commercial advertisements

         20  before the start time, and I think that that is

         21  reasonable for New Yorkers.  And I know Loews is

         22  experimenting in both Connecticut, and other places

         23  in the country with this; you can come in, the start

         24  time will be ten or fifteen minutes after the- the

         25  start time of the feature presentation will be ten
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          2  or fifteen minutes after the show time.

          3                 So, different businesses have

          4  approached this in different manners in order to

          5  satisfy their public, and I think that people- a lot

          6  of people- accept those differences, and go to movie

          7  theaters based on them.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  See I think

          9  people go to the movies because they want to see the

         10  movie, and they are surprised when they get there

         11  and they find out there is 20 minutes or so of a

         12  mixture of ads and previews.  We are actually

         13  talking about the ads that are most disruptive in

         14  terms of the public.

         15                 So, I know Loews, I think, changed

         16  their policy somewhat after Connecticut and New York

         17  City started introducing legislation.  It is

         18  possible that everybody would do the same, but the

         19  fact of the matter is, the 22 or so minutes

         20  sometimes within those ads too, are types of

         21  material that may not be relevant to the PG of the

         22  movie.  So when you are there with a child for a PG,

         23  the ads sometimes may not even reflect the PG nature

         24  of the movie, and I think that if people want to, as

         25  we are told, get there early so they get a seat,
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          2  then they would know 7 o'clock are the previews and

          3  the ads, 7:20 is the movie.  They can make that

          4  decision, they can be an informed consumer.

          5                 So, I mean I think that if it is a

          6  different policy for each theater, the public just

          7  does not have the time to analyze all of that.  They

          8  want to see the movie, and I think as a city we

          9  would behoove ourselves to make it a consumer-

         10  friendly policy. This is an example to me of a

         11  consumer- friendly policy, very similar how to the

         12  cell phone ban in the movies.  People know that in

         13  the back of their mind, city government has done

         14  something, it is not taking care of everybody's

         15  shelter, but it is dealing with something that you

         16  are feeling ripped off about unless somebody steps

         17  in.

         18                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

         20                 Thank you, Miss Toole.

         21                 MS. TOOLE:  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  We would like to

         23  hear, since we have been hearing about the theater

         24  owners and operators, Dominick Balletta, please join

         25  us, and Robert Sunshine of the National Association
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          2  of Theater Owners.

          3                 Please join us, and welcome.

          4                 MR. BALLETTA:  Good morning Council

          5  Member Reed, Council Member Brewer, Arroyo.

          6                 My name is Dominick Balletta, and I

          7  am the General Manager of The Film Forum, a non-

          8  profit cinema located in Lower Manhattan.

          9                 Film Forum was founded in 1970 in a

         10  tiny loft space on the Upper West Side, with 50

         11  folding chairs, and a $19,000 budget.  Today we are

         12  an internationally recognized and acclaimed cinema,

         13  operating three screens, 365 days of the year to an

         14  audience of 300,000 people.

         15                 Even if you have never been to Film

         16  Forum, you have seen our films.  Many go on from

         17  here to extensive lives in commercial chains.

         18                 This year's Academy Award winning

         19  documentary`Born Into Brothels' is a prime example.

         20  Other films at Film Forum you may have heard of

         21  include`Spellbound', the internationally acclaimed

         22  documentary about spelling bees,`Downfall', the

         23  Academy Award nominated film about the last days of

         24  Adolf Hitler, and coming up in August, we are

         25  premiering Keith Beauchamp's investigative
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          2  documentary`The Untold Story of Emmett Louis Till'.

          3  This film has already had a profound effect on the

          4  Nation, as the information uncovered by Beauchamp in

          5  making the film has spurred the FBI to re- open the

          6  investigation into this murder.

          7                 As a non- profit cinema, and as

          8  cinephiles, we value the sanctity of the movie going

          9  experience.  Thus, while we need to raise one

         10  million dollars every year in order to keep our

         11  doors open, we have consistently turned down paid

         12  advertising before our films.  To do so would

         13  reflect unfavorably on the films and on the film

         14  going experience, in our opinion.

         15                 We, therefore, support the proposed

         16  legislation introduced today.

         17                 Thank you so much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Mr. Sunshine.

         19                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Mr. Reed, members of

         20  the Committee, I appreciate the opportunity to come

         21  before you and present testimony with regard to

         22  Intro. 563.

         23                 My name is Robert Sunshine.  I am the

         24  Executive Director of the National Association of

         25  Theater Owners, of NATO of New York State.
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          2                 Our organization represents in New

          3  York Loews theaters, all of the Regal Theaters which

          4  have recently taken over United Artists, National

          5  Amusements, Clearview Cinemas, City Cinemas, and

          6  other independents.  Although American MultiCinemas,

          7  which operates a theater on 42nd Street is not

          8  presently a member of our association, they are in

          9  favor of the position that we are taking today.

         10                 Our position is that we are opposed

         11  to this legislation.

         12                 Contrary to what has been said at the

         13  hearing so far, we are a consumer- friendly

         14  industry, and the movie theaters of the City of New

         15  York are constantly doing what we can to abide by

         16  legislation, by rules, regulations, meeting with

         17  Consumer Affairs, and complying and working on a

         18  voluntary basis on many, many matters.

         19                 I hope that when I am done with my

         20  testimony today, and answer any questions that you

         21  might have, that you will also feel that this

         22  legislation is not necessary.

         23                 It is generally understood that

         24  movies begin after the scheduled show time.  Viewing

         25  trailers is part of the movie going experience.  As
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          2  a matter of fact, it has been part of the movie

          3  going experience probably for the last 50 or 60

          4  years.  There is a long- standing tradition to show

          5  coming attractions before features, and nearly

          6  everybody who comes to the movies today realize

          7  that, and expect it.  Most people who do come to the

          8  movies today like to see the previews of coming

          9  attractions because it makes them aware of what

         10  pictures will be coming down in the near future.

         11                 Consumer complaints associated with

         12  pre- show programming and advertising are very, very

         13  low.  We constantly do surveys of our people to see

         14  how they feel.  Some of the ad groups that do

         15  programs such as ScreenVision and NCN have done

         16  surveys and the figures are really pretty high, and

         17  some survey's that have been done it is almost as

         18  much as 85 percent of the people who have no problem

         19  with showing advertising prior to the show or are

         20  indifferent.  Only approximately 10 to 15 percent

         21  are opposed to it.

         22                 Posting of show time has always

         23  included movie trailers.  We never single out

         24  feature times that movies start. So, if a movie

         25  posts a show time of 8 o'clock, people generally
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          2  know, who frequent that specific theater, that at

          3  8:10 or 8:12,

          4  or whatever it might be, the movie will start.

          5                 There are only two circuits in the

          6  City presently that when they post a show time do

          7  include advertising as part of the pre- show, and

          8  then their trailers and policies.  All of the

          9  others--.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I am sorry, Sir,

         11  you said there is only two that post, is that what

         12  you said?

         13                 MR. SUNSHINE:  There are only two

         14  circuits in the City presently that when they post

         15  show time, do show advertising prior to the feature.

         16    All of the other circuits show their advertising

         17  prior to show time.

         18                 So if you were going, for instance,

         19  to a AMC Theater --.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I am sorry, just

         21  so we are clear. Circuit, what does circuit mean?

         22                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Loews Theaters is a

         23  circuit.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay.

         25                 MR. SUNSHINE:  AMC is a circuit.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, thank you.

          3                 MR. SUNSHINE:  So in effect, most of

          4  the show times that are posted now in the City, do

          5  not have any advertising prior to the show time.

          6  There are policy trailers, and there are trailers.

          7                 If the City Council's concern is with

          8  the showing of commercials rather than movie

          9  trailers, it should know that many of these

         10  companies do not show commercials after a movie's

         11  advertised show time.  Let me give you an example.

         12                 If you go to a Regal Cinema today,

         13  they have something they call The Twenty- this is an

         14  advertising program that now is being shown in a

         15  digital format prior to show time, and for 20

         16  minutes they do a program that is very entertaining,

         17  that talks about programs that might be on Turner,

         18  programs that might be on NBC, Universal advertises

         19  on it, et cetera.  That program runs for 20 minutes.

         20  At show time it ends, and then you will only have

         21  policy trailers or trailers for upcoming features.

         22  If you frequent a Regal or United Artists theater,

         23  you know that policy.

         24                 Loews Theaters, as it has been said

         25  several times at this meeting now, has tried
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          2  something in Connecticut that seems to be working

          3  well, and what they are doing now is they are saying

          4  that if show time starts at 8 o'clock, for instance,

          5  that within ten to fifteen minutes of that time, the

          6  actual feature will start. So people should be

          7  aware, going into that theater.

          8                 I, sort of, I do not want to use the

          9  word resent, it is a very strong word, but anybody

         10  who is saying that we intentionally start our show

         11  time to include advertising or whatever to deceive

         12  the public, that is strictly wrong.  We have to

         13  adhere to a certain policy, to a certain time table.

         14                 Pre- show programming serves a dual

         15  role in theaters, not only in New York, but all

         16  around the country.  One, it keeps customers

         17  entertained prior to the feature starting, and it

         18  supports the economics of the exhibition business,

         19  and I will explain that in a few minutes.

         20                 If the City Council passed a law that

         21  would require movie theaters to post the exact time

         22  of the feature film, it would cause, we feel, major

         23  problems to the exhibitor, and tremendous confusion

         24  to the public.

         25                 First, we feel it would lead to
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          2  numerous complaints by customers who would now show

          3  up late for the film.  People who go to the movies

          4  all over the United States, all over the world,

          5  expect pre- shows.  So if all of a sudden now we are

          6  posting the actual start time of a feature, people

          7  would be coming in late.  We would have irate

          8  patrons, and it would be an impossible thing to

          9  handle.

         10                 Legislation that you are proposing

         11  probably, if it is passed, would require now that

         12  movie theaters post two times. A start time for the

         13  show, and a start time for the feature.  When you

         14  have a multi- plex, where you have 15 or 16 screens,

         15  and you are posting times five and six times a day

         16  for a movie, if you have to post two times for each

         17  of that, with 15 screens, we feel it would be

         18  terribly, terribly confusing to the public.

         19                 Also, during heavy business times,

         20  showings may have to be delayed a few minutes to

         21  clear an audience, to clean an auditorium.

         22                 Just recently`Star Wars' opened up,

         23  it opened up to record business all over the United

         24  State, it has already done close to 320 million

         25  people, the lines at the theater to get the people
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          2  in and out have been horrendous.  We pride ourselves

          3  on security, cuing.  If in fact we had to state and

          4  go to a specific time in situations like that, it

          5  would be impossible to handle.  We sell concessions

          6  at movie theaters.  When you have a major movie like

          7  that playing, audiences, dirty auditoriums, we want

          8  to send in people and clean them up if it is

          9  necessary.  That could put off a starting time by

         10  several minutes.

         11                 The publication of multiple show

         12  times for a single movie is more likely to confuse

         13  than assist customers, and newspapers would probably

         14  not run both times.

         15                 Maintaining security in movie

         16  theaters is probably one of the paramount things on

         17  the minds of any manager and any staff member, and

         18  we pride ourselves in keeping our theaters very

         19  safe.

         20                 Our feeling is if all of a sudden we

         21  are posting start times, rather than show times,

         22  people are going to come in for an 8 o'clock movie

         23  at 8:05 or 8:07 because they customarily come in at

         24  that time if they do not want to see trailers, and

         25  now we are going to have irate patrons who are going
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          2  to cause ruckus in the theaters, they are going to

          3  demand refunds, it is going to economically impact

          4  on our theaters.  And again, it is going to cause

          5  unnecessary security risks.

          6                 The economic impact of such

          7  legislation could be quite harmful to theaters that

          8  would need to give these refunds to patrons who

          9  arrive late, and would not allow them sufficient

         10  time to go to the concession stand to buy their

         11  popcorn, to buy their soda.  So if such legislation

         12  was mandated, we feel that the confusion that is

         13  caused would be a problem.  Then, who is it to

         14  decided on whether the show started at 8:00, or

         15  8:01, or 8:02- would it be the patron, would it be

         16  the theater again to regulate this we feel would be

         17  a tremendous problem.

         18                 The additional source of revenue from

         19  pre- show advertising has made it possible for the

         20  roll out in the City of New York many, many theaters

         21  over the last decade, theaters that you probably all

         22  know, sites like Lincoln Square, Kips Bay, Union

         23  Square, Battery Park, Empire, E- Walk, 34th Street,

         24  et cetera, and many of these theaters may not have

         25  been built if theaters were not able to take in some
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          2  of the additional revenues from sources, such as

          3  pre- show advertising.

          4                 The investment in brick and mortar

          5  today to build movie theaters in New York, building

          6  theaters that are technologically terrific, with

          7  digital sound, with stadium seating, now cost our

          8  theater owners anywhere between 17 and 25 percent

          9  more.

         10                 Again, our theaters are constantly

         11  looking for ways to earn more money to help pay for

         12  this refurbishing, to pay for this building, and to

         13  help keep ticket prices down.

         14                 We are not aware of any other forms

         15  of entertainment that guarantee advertised start

         16  times.  Many theaters in the City of New York are

         17  run by circuits that do not show advertisements past

         18  their posted show time.  And in other circuits it is

         19  generally known that the feature begins a certain

         20  time after show time.  We think that this situation

         21  and solution could be better handled, if we go to

         22  the theaters, and we come up and work out a policy

         23  with them.

         24                 We have a solution that we think

         25  would work.  Let the theater operators of New York
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          2  voluntarily put into action a plan, where each such

          3  theater would post a sign in their theater stating

          4  that the feature begins a set time after the show

          5  time. Circuits can even do more than that.  They can

          6  post them on their websites, they can put them in

          7  other directory ads. I think you will find that

          8  movie theaters are a consumer- friendly industry and

          9  will work with you.  Our goal is not to deceive.

         10  Our goal is not to make a captive audience.  No one

         11  ties the people to chairs when they come into movie

         12  theaters.  People like to come in, find their seats,

         13  and just get accustomed and used to the film getting

         14  ready to go on.

         15                 This is an area that we feel does not

         16  need legislation.  Legislation will only make the

         17  situation more complicated, create potential safety

         18  hazards associated with these irate customers, cost

         19  theater chains to loose revenue, and will add

         20  additional administrative headaches.

         21                 Enforcement of such legislation would

         22  be nearly impossible, and we feel not a good use of

         23  the City's resources.

         24                 We also believe that the fine that is

         25  tied in with this is too extreme.
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          2                 We respectfully request that you vote

          3  against such legislation.

          4                 Thank you, Mr. Reed, and thank you

          5  members of the Council.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you both.

          7                 Dominick, I am sorry could you just

          8  give me the spelling, it is probably my inability to

          9  read.

         10                 MR. BALLETTA:  No, it is basically my

         11  bad handwriting, child of the digital age.

         12                 Balletta.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  It might be your

         14  handwriting, okay.

         15                 MR. BALLETTA:  Very possibly.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I will give it to

         17  my lawyer, he will tell me.

         18                 Thank you both for testifying.

         19                 I know many of us are- all of us are

         20  big fans of the movies, and I think some of us have

         21  had the opportunity, I have just recently, to go to

         22  the Film Forum and I am always glad that you are

         23  there and like to do what I can to keep that type of

         24  cinema alive.

         25                 Mr. Sunshine, your testimony is a
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          2  little, I think somewhat contradictory, and I

          3  appreciate that you also offered a compromise but in

          4  your testimony you said that two circuits, I think

          5  it the language you used, do it one way.  I think

          6  you said two of them advertised that the actual

          7  start time of the movie, and then the others do it

          8  differently.  But one way or the other, it is one

          9  way or the other.

         10                 MR. SUNSHINE:  May I qualify that?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Yes.

         12                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Two of the circuits,

         13  when they announce their start time, the program

         14  begins, they do show advertising, trailers, policy,

         15  then feature.  The other circuits in the City, when

         16  they announce their show time, it is strictly

         17  trailers and policy.  All advertising pre- dates the

         18  show time, precedes it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I think my point

         20  is still the same.  There is- one does it one way,

         21  and another group does it another way.  But you are

         22  saying that there would be, if we did something

         23  about it, there would be confusion.  There is

         24  confusion now because I think 99 percent of the

         25  theater goers, moviegoers, do not know, "oh well,
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          2  that cinema always does it this way, and the other

          3  one does it that way."  So, there is in fact in

          4  reality, differences.  So that if you read the

          5  clock, the movie clock or whatever it is called, in

          6  the newspaper, and it says Cinema A is at 8:15, well

          7  that cinema does not start at 8:15, so there is

          8  confusion.  I think what we are trying to do is to

          9  clear that up.           So, what I was hearing in

         10  your testimony was not, to me, was sort of

         11  reiterating the fact that consumers do not

         12  necessarily get a clear idea in their mind.  Unless

         13  I know I only go to AMC or I think that is what it

         14  is called down on 42nd Street, something like that,

         15  Empire what?

         16                 MR. SUNSHINE:  That is an Empire

         17  Theater is an AMC theater, yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, I actually

         19  try not to go there.  It is just too much for me, it

         20  is too overwhelming, I am confused but it is a

         21  product of age probably.

         22                 So you are confused about what time

         23  it is that you need to get to the theater.

         24                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Mr. Chairman, we have

         25  done surveys that show approximately 78 percent of
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          2  the people that go to a movie theater frequent that

          3  same movie theater.  They are very familiar with the

          4  policy of that theater, they know when commercials

          5  go on, they know when trailers go on, and they are

          6  aware of it.

          7                 Again with regard to what I said, if

          8  I have confused you, pre- show is tradition.  People

          9  going to movie theaters know that prior to the

         10  feature starting there will always be pre- show.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I do not think

         12  that is the issue, Mr. Sunshine.

         13                 I think the issue, and I will let the

         14  prime sponsor speak to this, the issue is whether or

         15  not we are going to have some standard even if there

         16  is a pre- show.  If we all know that it says the

         17  movie starts at 8:15, then we know that there is 20

         18  minutes beforehand, with the exception of The Film

         19  Forum, where there is going to be something else,

         20  some falderal or something is going to happen but at

         21  8:15, the feature that I wanted to see is going to

         22  start, and so you can make a choice  I think that,

         23  to me, would be a comfort to know that that is what

         24  that says because, frankly, right now I do not know

         25  as a consumer,`well, I sort of know that I probably
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          2  do have ten minutes time built in if the subway is

          3  late, and I am trying to run over there and meet

          4  friends.'

          5                 So, even if we all know there is

          6  going to be stuff beforehand, if we know that

          7  beforehand is going to mean before 8:15, that gives

          8  you some scheduling.

          9                 What I would like to know, a couple

         10  of other things is, you said you do surveys and that

         11  is great to hear that, of moviegoers.  What do

         12  moviegoers complain about the most?

         13                 MR. SUNSHINE:  I would say they

         14  probably complain the most about dirty theaters.

         15  They might complain about a print being degraded

         16  (sic), going into a theater maybe two weeks or three

         17  weeks after a print has been running, and that is

         18  why the industry is looking into digital and digital

         19  projectors now to, hopefully, eliminate that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Yes.

         21                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Others might complain

         22  about cost.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Is there not a

         24  number one complaint?

         25                 MR. SUNSHINE:  I think it varies from
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          2  theater to theater, from location to location.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So, and price

          4  would be one?

          5                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Price is probably one.

          6    I would love to give you figures if you want to

          7  hear about price, what other entertainment centers

          8  and entertainment venues are charging, and

          9  percentages of increases over the years.  I mean, we

         10  have all of this documented.  I did not want to

         11  present that because I did not think we would be

         12  getting into cost.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  No, I understand.

         14                 Can you tell me what amount of

         15  revenue is generated on average from these

         16  advertisements?

         17                 MR. SUNSHINE:  I spoke to some of the

         18  theaters prior to coming in here, and in general I

         19  can tell you revenue what they raise.  I cannot tell

         20  you what they net on it because that is proprietary

         21  interest that I am not even aware of.  But in

         22  general right now, approximately 65 to 70 percent

         23  comes in from tickets, approximately 25 to 27

         24  percent comes in from concessions, and approximately

         25  four or five percent comes in from advertising and
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          2  other things they might do in the theater, such as

          3  gaming and different things.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Give me those

          5  percentages again, I am sorry.

          6                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Approximately 65

          7  percent from theater tickets, somewhere in the area

          8  of 27 to 30 percent from--.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I see.

         10                 MR. SUNSHINE: -- the concessions.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So only four

         12  percent, on average, even if it is five, stretch it

         13  out to six, that is coming from all of that time

         14  spent watching these commercials?

         15                 Do the theaters--.

         16                 MR. SUNSHINE:  In terms of revenue

         17  coming in, yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  In terms of

         19  revenue, and do the theater owners make money on the

         20  trailers?

         21                 MR. SUNSHINE:  No.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Are they obliged

         23  from the distributor to show trailers?

         24                 MR. SUNSHINE:  We show trailers in

         25  movie theaters for several reasons.  The biggest
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          2  reason is it is the best way to promote upcoming

          3  films so the public knows what is happening.  So

          4  this is something that the theaters want to do.

          5  Theaters have the right to determine which trailers

          6  they are going to show, other than on certain

          7  features, a trailer might be connected to the front

          8  of the feature.  But usually a theater, theater

          9  circuit, will have a policy where it might show

         10  three or four, and they voluntarily can make a

         11  decision with regard to which trailers they do show.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Dominick, do you

         13  show trailers at The Film Forum?

         14                 MR. BALLETTA:  We do show trailers of

         15  upcoming Film Forum projects, when trailers are

         16  available.  Not all of our film makers make

         17  trailers.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  But nevertheless

         19  your posted film time is when the film starts?

         20                 MR. BALLETTA:  Our posted film time

         21  is within three minutes, we tend to keep them three

         22  to four minutes long.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I see.

         24                 Council Member Brewer.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you
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          2  very much, and thank you Film Forum.

          3                 Mr. Sunshine, one of the questions I

          4  have is, what could be the maximum of these ads and

          5  trailers?

          6                 I went recently to a circuit, and I

          7  do not remember which one it was but the bottom line

          8  was we got there a little early, the ads/trailers

          9  are mixed, you see an ad, then you see a trailer,

         10  and it started about I would say seven minutes

         11  before the start time as posted, and the ads,

         12  trailers, and policies went, it was at least another

         13  15- my niece was timing- she now walks around in

         14  movies with a stopwatch, and she was timing, and it

         15  was a good- it was almost 20 minutes more of ads,

         16  trailers and policy mixed.

         17                 But I am wondering where could this

         18  stop?

         19                 In other words, we could end up with

         20  40 minutes of ads, trailers, if in fact the theaters

         21  felt there was a need to up that four, five or six

         22  percent for ads.  That is what I am concerned about.

         23    I obviously do feel that the filmgoer is unable to

         24  turn this off, and very frustrated by the reaction

         25  we got when we introduced this bill.  But how do we
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          2  know that this is not going to end up an ad/trailer

          3  policy for a great period of time?

          4                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Well, I can answer

          5  that in two ways, I guess.

          6                 Number one, it is something that

          7  theater owners just will not do.  They will no do

          8  because they have to run their show a certain number

          9  of times during the day, and if you are running a

         10  film, if you want to make money with the film, you

         11  have to run it three times a day or five times a

         12  day, whatever.  If you going to show different

         13  trailers and advertising and all, it is just going

         14  to extend the time, and you will not be able to

         15  show.  So that is something that will definitely not

         16  happen.

         17                 Councilwoman Brewer, have you ever

         18  gone to a movie theater and asked at the box office

         19  what time the feature starts?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I have not

         21  because I show up at the time that I think is the

         22  movie, but it is increasingly the ads, as opposed

         23  to- nobody has objected to policies or to trailers

         24  or previews.  It is the ads that we are objecting

         25  to.
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          2                 Now of course, if the theaters want

          3  to get rid of this four percent for the ads, we

          4  would be happy.  It is the ads that we find- that we

          5  do not want to watch.  At home we sit there, I have

          6  never watched an ad, we always hit the mute, and I

          7  think, the fact of the matter is, when we pay for a

          8  family $40/$50 to go to the movies, plus the popcorn

          9  the kids want, and everything else, you are looking

         10  at a very large chunk of money, and we want to go

         11  see the movies.  We do not want to see the ads.  And

         12  we want to know that in advance, that is the issue

         13  that we are concerned about today.

         14                 It really could end up being more

         15  because the time that we went to this movie at one

         16  of your circuits, I believe the movie was called for

         17  7:30, we got there around 7:20, we walked in and the

         18  ads had already started for that next feature, even

         19  before, as you suggest, before the actual time, and

         20  they kept going for another 20 minutes.  So, why

         21  couldn't they even start earlier?            They

         22  could still, as theaters, keep running their five or

         23  six shows every day.  I am just saying this could be

         24  and endless proposition in terms of the

         25  previews/ads.
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          2                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Well, I think you are

          3  exaggerating it a little bit.  I understand the

          4  situation you are presenting.

          5                 I think that this is a situation that

          6  is better talked upon with our organization, and we

          7  can discuss it with our group, rather than

          8  legislating because I think that legislating on this

          9  issue it is going to create great confusion, and

         10  great problems in the regulation of it.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Do you think

         12  there would be a possibility- I think what you are

         13  saying is what Loews is going in Connecticut is they

         14  are stating the movie starts at 8:00, if you want to

         15  see the ads, the trailers and the policy, we are

         16  going to start at 7:45.  In other words, it would be

         17  15 minutes, everybody would know that, and that is

         18  it.

         19                 Or are you saying the theaters want

         20  to be able to extend this so- called preview time,

         21  depending on the theater?

         22                 Why could not we say, every X-

         23  numbers of times, period?  Is that what Loews is

         24  doing in Connecticut?

         25                 MR. SUNSHINE:  I think certain
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          2  theaters can be consistent.  I do not think it could

          3  be consistent across the board for the simple reason

          4  that different theaters show different commercials,

          5  different theaters show different trailers for

          6  different movies, certain trailers might run two

          7  minutes, some run two- thirty, some run one- thirty.

          8

          9                 So to have a consistency, I think

         10  would be very difficult.  I think it would be very

         11  possible and very conceivable for any theater within

         12  our organization to state that show time is 8

         13  o'clock, and within ten to fifteen minutes of that

         14  time, the movie will begin.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  And so it

         16  would not be this 22 minute, 23 minute kind of

         17  thing?

         18                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Well again, that 20

         19  minute thing if you are referring to as`the 20',

         20  that is something that runs 20 minutes prior to a

         21  show time at Regal and at United Artists.  So they

         22  advertise show time at 7 o'clock.  If you go into

         23  the theater for a twenty- to- seven, from twenty-

         24  to- seven to seven, they do their twenty.  At seven

         25  o'clock there is no advertising.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay

          3                 MR. SUNSHINE:  It is just policy,

          4  trailers, and trailers for upcoming features.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  But that is

          6  not consistent across the board.

          7                 MR. SUNSHINE:  That is consistent

          8  only in the Regal Theaters.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I understand.

         10    But what happens to the consumer, as a consumer

         11  you know the difference between the circuits, the

         12  consumer does not, and so what you are saying is to

         13  be that kind of educated consumer is just not

         14  something that is going to happen.

         15                 People go to the movies based on the

         16  fact that there is a movie theater showing the movie

         17  they want to see.  They are not going to know that-

         18  what you are describing.  So what I am saying is I

         19  do think that we need to think of a way of educating

         20  the consumer.

         21                 I mean, I am certainly willing to

         22  think of other ways of doing it but right now, when

         23  you are paying $40 or $50 to go to the movies with a

         24  family, you do end up seeing a huge number of ads,

         25  and I will say some of them are not appropriate, to
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          2  be honest with you, for sometimes, children, and you

          3  are there for a PG.

          4                 So there are a lot of issues here,

          5  and I think the theaters have let it get out of

          6  control, and that is why you see such a reaction.

          7  When we released this legislation, unbelievable

          8  numbers of people, very concerned, about it is not

          9  like I said a life or death issue but it is a

         10  consumer issue because they feel very ripped off.  I

         11  think the theaters have let it go too long.

         12                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Councilwoman, with

         13  regard to the advertising situation, I would be glad

         14  to set up meetings with you, with companies like NCN

         15  and ScreenVision to discuss the advertising point.

         16                 I believe that trailers that are put

         17  up on the screen are appropriate for the film that

         18  is being shown, and I believe that the advertising

         19  companies do that also.  That is number one.

         20                 Number two, I think that we would be

         21  better off having each theater or each circuit

         22  explain the policy to the people that frequent their

         23  theaters.  If you are going to insist on an exact

         24  feature time that is going to be listed, what is

         25  going to happen is people are going to be coming
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          2  late to movie theaters.  We would not be able to

          3  adhere to that exact time because of situations in

          4  the theaters, with cleaning an auditorium, with a

          5  break in a film, with unloading an auditorium during

          6  a crowded Friday night or Saturday night, and I

          7  think it would be very hard to achieve that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I think what I am

          9  hearing is that there is room for compromise in

         10  here, and you offered some of that in your own

         11  testimony.

         12                 I tend to support my colleague,

         13  Councilwoman Brewer on this, but I do hear some room

         14  for compromise.  I am sure she would like to work

         15  with the industry as this Committee would to define

         16  that.

         17                 I do not think anybody is objecting

         18  when there is five minutes, ten minutes, maybe even,

         19  difference from the actual start time but I think

         20  what we are talking about is that sometimes it is

         21  20/25 minutes that is built in deliberately for the

         22  reason for revenue, for all of the things that you

         23  have stated, which in a capitalist system and

         24  entrepreneurial reasons, they are entitled to do

         25  that.  But I think the issue is the consumer is also
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          2  entitled to make a choice--.

          3                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Mr. Reed.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:--  about whether

          5  they want to have that as a part of their

          6  entertainment experience, or they do not.

          7                 I am also mindful of what you have

          8  said that if you say it is going to start at 8:15, I

          9  seem to be stuck on that for some reason, but that

         10  there can be problems in terms of moving people in

         11  and out, and so and so.  I cannot really subscribe

         12  to the concern that you have about plus or minus

         13  more time because you just build that in the front

         14  end.  You know, if you know that you have to start

         15  at 8:15 but this movie is going to have 25 minutes

         16  of trailers, as opposed to the other one, you factor

         17  that in.

         18                 But my point, Mr. Sunshine, I think

         19  is that I would look forward to you working with

         20  Council Member Brewer and others who may be

         21  interested because we started late on this, I want

         22  to have the other two people who have come to

         23  testify, so I do not want to take too much more

         24  dialog.  I know one or two of my colleagues have

         25  some brief, they know what that means from this
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          2  Chair, questions because we try to stay on time

          3  here, which means we are out of here in a half an

          4  hour.

          5                 MR. SUNSHINE:  May I talk for 30

          6  seconds?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You can speak

          8  quickly.

          9                 MR. SUNSHINE:  In response to what

         10  you just said, you read me absolutely right, we are

         11  consumer- friendly.  We wish that we would have had

         12  the opportunity to sit down with Councilwoman Brewer

         13  prior to this hearing, and if it is appropriate for

         14  me to request that before this is even voted on, let

         15  us sit down, I will put together a committee of all

         16  the different circuits, we could sit in a room, let

         17  us discuss it and see if we could work something

         18  out.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You have to bring

         20  popcorn, some kind of soda.

         21                 MR. SUNSHINE:  We will supply

         22  popcorn, soda, and air conditioning, Sir.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And air

         24  conditioning, Amen.

         25                 On that note, I am going to call on
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          2  Council Member Barron.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  I just wanted

          4  to support my colleague, Council Member Brewer.

          5                 You know, we are a captive audience,

          6  once you get us, or once we decide to go to the

          7  theater, and we are sitting there, we are basically

          8  a captive audience, and I think, and I agree with my

          9  colleague that it can be abusive if you have to sit

         10  there and look at all of that advertisement.

         11                 I can even see that there may be some

         12  inconsistency in the rating of the advertisement and

         13  the rating of the movies, but I think that we need

         14  to look at that stuff, since we are going to be

         15  there, and I understand your point too because even

         16  starting a movie say at 8:15, if our watches are not

         17  synchronized, that could even throw things off.

         18                 So I understand your concerns as well

         19  but we are a captive audience, and I think it is

         20  good to see what we can come up with so that all

         21  parties can be satisfied, and I think that my

         22  colleague, Gale Brewer, I thank her for bringing

         23  that to the publics' attention because sometimes

         24  people do not understand that these little quality

         25  of life issues mean a whole lot to a large amount of
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          2  people because we hear talk in the neighborhoods

          3  where we might think it is something,`oh, what are

          4  we sitting here taking up this time about what time

          5  we will arrive at a movie', but that can be, as you

          6  know, a very serious issue.

          7                 So Council Member Brewer, I want to

          8  thank you for bringing it to the Council's

          9  attention, and even to the City's attention.  It is

         10  something that should be addressed, and addressed

         11  adequately and amicably.

         12                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

         14                 I wanted to also recognize that we

         15  have been joined by Council Member Addabbo from

         16  Queens, and Council Member Gentile from Brooklyn,

         17  and we are going to ask them to vote as soon we

         18  change- when we are in the process of changing

         19  panels.

         20                 I just wanted to make one mention to

         21  you, Mr. Sunshine, we were referring in seriousness

         22  and humor about the cell phone legislation.  I have

         23  found in my experience at the movie theaters that

         24  the law is violated often times by the theater

         25  owners and operators because the law requires the
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          2  theater owners and operators to make and

          3  announcement or post prominently that people are

          4  required to turn their cell phones off, and I do not

          5  see this in all the movie theaters.  Quite

          6  frequently I do not see this, as a matter of fact

          7  but I must say that it probably even worse at

          8  legitimate Broadway theaters that they do not do it

          9  either.  I do not know which is worse, the movies or

         10  the theater when a cell phone goes off but I just

         11  would comment to you that often- and there was an

         12  article in the Times recently about the enforcement

         13  of this, and we are finding out that a lot of the

         14  theater owners are not doing that.

         15                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Many of our theaters,

         16  I would say most of our theaters, have policy

         17  trailers up on the screen prior to a feature

         18  starting that say`turn off your cell phone'.  Some

         19  of them are straightforward as that, and some of

         20  them are comical pieces that they put up there where

         21  they eject people from seats, and there are

         22  obnoxious people on phones.  Many of our theaters

         23  also post it with sign boards.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I am simply saying

         25  that as the Chair of this Committee, and the author
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          2  of that legislation, and a frequent attendee at

          3  movie theaters, I do not see any of those things

          4  happening all too frequently at movie theaters.

          5                 So you might want to mention that to

          6  the theater owners and operators.

          7                 I want to thank you both for coming.

          8                 Sorry we do not have more questions

          9  for you, but we like the fact that you do not have

         10  any advertisements, so, we want to advertise your

         11  Film Forum.  Where is it again?

         12                 MR. BALLETTA:  209 West Houston, in

         13  the West Village.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, thank you

         15  very much, appreciate your being here.

         16                 Next we have Joel Siegel who is

         17  representing himself.  I think many people might

         18  recognize him.  And I am sorry I lost my other sheet

         19  of paper, Mark Huisman who is a movie goer. Please

         20  join us, and while we are doing that, we want to

         21  reopen the vote on 491- A mandating that the

         22  Department of Consumer Affairs remove the

         23  requirement for general and food vendor legislation

         24  that the applicant provide working per

         25  documentation, showing their working papers.
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          2                 That is the summation of the bill.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Council Member

          4  Addabbo.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Mr. Chair

          6  may I be briefly excused to explain my vote?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Okay, thank

          9  you very much.

         10                 I am just going to say for the sake

         11  of all individuals who apply for vendor licenses, I

         12  think for their fairness, I will be voting yes on

         13  the Intro. 491- A.

         14                 If I may just make a quick remark on

         15  the topic at hand regarding the trailers?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Let me- I will let

         17  you talk first about that, let me just get through

         18  this vote Joe.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  I am sorry,

         20  sure, you

         21  got it.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Go right on before

         23  they even start.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Council Member

         25  Gentile.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  In

          3  accordance with the fact that this 491- A builds on

          4  the Mayor's Executive Order 41, I vote aye.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK:  The final vote stands

          6  at seven in the affirmative, zero in the negative,

          7  and no abstentions.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

         10                 Council Member Addabbo.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you

         12  Mr. Chair, once again.

         13                 I appreciate the time here, just very

         14  briefly, I am glad that they will be looking in the

         15  leadership of the Chair to do some type of

         16  compromise here because when I boil it down for a

         17  $10.00 ticket, and if we are in the movie theater

         18  for roughly 135 minutes, a two- hour movie and

         19  roughly a 15 minute or so trailer/ads, we are

         20  looking at for the ads and the trailers and

         21  everything else, about a dollar, about $1.04 for the

         22  cost of the consumer.  So hopefully, over that $1.04

         23  we can come to some compromise over how much burden

         24  falls on the consumer.

         25                 I appreciate the leadership of both
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          2  the Chair and the sponsor of the legislation.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And we appreciate

          4  your arithmetic, your acuity at arithmetic because

          5  most of us are lousy at it, so we are impressed just

          6  by that councilman.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  I had a

          8  calculator handy, I figured I would give it to you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 Gentlemen, it is your choice.

         12                 MR. HUISMAN:  Good morning, my name

         13  is Mark Huisman, and I am a screenwriting student at

         14  Columbia University.

         15                 For about 12 years I was also a film

         16  critic.  I wrote for the Village Voice, for the San

         17  Francisco Chronicle, I was a founding editor for

         18  LGNY, which is now known as Gay City News, and I

         19  spent a lot of years, probably not as much as my

         20  former esteemed colleague to my left has in the dark

         21  watching movies, but I just want to say on the

         22  record that I love the movies.  I think that needs

         23  to be put out here.

         24                 I think we are all here today because

         25  we love the movies, and enjoy them as a communal
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          2  social and entertainment experience, and I am going

          3  to read part of my written testimony, part of it I

          4  am not going to read because I would like to respond

          5  to some of the things that I have heard in testimony

          6  today, and to make some suggestions that I think

          7  that might be useful to you moving forward on how to

          8  frame this issue more successfully between parties

          9  that may now seem to be in opposition.

         10                 I am spoiled by my movie going

         11  experience.  I often see movies far in advance of

         12  when they open to the public.  I get to sit in plush

         13  armchairs in air conditioned rooms where there is a

         14  comfortable amount of personal space between me and

         15  the next viewer.

         16                 I have never adapted well to civilian

         17  movie going life.  I want to get that out on the

         18  table.  When I do go to movies, when I do buy a

         19  ticket, I am one of the guys that likes to go to get

         20  an early seat.  I do not mind looking at the ads.  I

         21  do not mind looking at the coming attractions.  For

         22  me, that is part of the business, it is part of what

         23  movie going life is like.  I have a lot of friends,

         24  and I have often been in this position where I would

         25  really like to know when the last possible minute is
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          2  I can walk into that theater, having paid $10.50 for

          3  my ticket, and know that I am not going to miss one

          4  second of that movie.  The beginning of a movie is

          5  critical to your understanding, whether you are a

          6  cineaste or just simply just simply looking for

          7  entertainment of what that movie is going to be

          8  about.  If you have paid $10.50, and you are missing

          9  the beginning of the movie, you are missing part of

         10  what you have paid to see.  I view that in fairly

         11  black and white terms.

         12                 I do want to say that I think there

         13  is a solution to the concerns that were just brought

         14  to the table by the theater owners and by the

         15  Department of Consumer Affairs, most of whom I think

         16  have left although I hope some of them are still

         17  here.

         18                 I do not think that it is burdensome

         19  to ask theaters to list two show times.  And let us

         20  just hypothetically say that currently a list of

         21  show times in a theater advertising block has 7, 9,

         22  11 and 1, okay?  Those may not be right times but we

         23  will say 7, 9, 11 and 1.  You can very, very easily

         24  say then if there is going to be a 15 minute bracket

         25  of what I will call previews, which I will use to
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          2  mean both ads and coming attractions, and the

          3  picture to mean the start of the movie itself, you

          4  can easily say then, backing up from 7, 9, 11 and 1,

          5  6:50/7, 8:50/9.

          6                 Over time, I really believe we are

          7  intelligent enough as New Yorkers and as consumers

          8  that we are going to get that, and the amount of

          9  space that you are going to have to devote to paid

         10  advertising, the theater marquees, which are largely

         11  electronic, to just about any other kind of

         12  promotion you could think of, the guy on movie

         13  phone, the guy on Fandango with the funny puppets, I

         14  just do not think it is going to be that burdensome.

         15    And I would throw something else out to the

         16  theater owners, with the way that marketing has

         17  become so sophisticated lately, I guarantee you in a

         18  very, very short period of time, his constituents

         19  will be able to figure out how to use the difference

         20  in those starting times to reach different

         21  audiences.

         22                 People like me who want to get a seat

         23  could be reached by having an ad that says`you want

         24  to get the best seat available, come at these times-

         25  do not worry, the show time starts at these times
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          2  for people who may be running late, like you were

          3  referring to earlier.

          4                 I do not think that we need to

          5  necessarily need to be at cross purposes here, and I

          6  really, really believe that their consumers will be

          7  better served by this legislation, the public will

          8  be better informed, and that in a very short matter

          9  of time, we are going to be looking at a system if

         10  we are ingenious enough to come up with something

         11  that really works that is not only easily understood

         12  and helpful to people, but that takes care of the

         13  issues on both sides.

         14                 With that I will yield of the time.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  I

         16  usually wait to hear both- all the panel, but I must

         17  comment because I was just thinking about it when

         18  you were making that- I might agree with that but, I

         19  quite literally use a magnifying glass now to read

         20  what time the movie starts in an ad.  I do not know

         21  if that is because of the cost of the ad, but you

         22  all will get there.  Because the print size is such

         23  that honest to God, I mean, I used to joke with a

         24  friend of mine but now I use a magnifying glass

         25  because I cannot figure out what the thing says.
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          2                 Mr. Siegel, thank you, welcome.

          3                 MR. HUISMAN:  Councilman Reed, may I

          4  suggest exercises to lengthen your arms, because I

          5  find that that works.

          6                 MR. SIEGEL:  I would like to thank

          7  the City Council very much for the opportunity to be

          8  here, and to thank you all for making New York City

          9  the only jurisdiction in the entire world where it

         10  is illegal to misquote a critic.

         11                 That is true, and it is most

         12  appreciated.

         13                 It was very interesting for me to

         14  listen to Mr. Sunshine, and his ideas for

         15  compromises, I think, are very good and very valid,

         16  yes, list the actual starting time of the film.

         17                 When I go to the movies, I will call

         18  or I will go to my neighborhood theater and I will

         19  stop by the box office and ask,`tell me what time

         20  the real movie really starts', because that is what

         21  I have to see, and I do not have time to waste, and

         22  I think that is really what we are about is time;

         23  the most precious commodity to a New Yorker

         24  especially is time.  We do not have time to waste.

         25                 Historically, Mr. Sunshine runs the
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          2  National Association of Theater- works for the

          3  National Association of Theater Owners, and kept

          4  talking about historical frame.  The reason that

          5  coming attractions, what we call coming attractions,

          6  are called trailers is because they used to run

          7  after the feature. Now they run before the feature.

          8  The reason being, no one stays until the feature is

          9  over.  When it says`the end', and the credits start,

         10  everybody gets up and goes away.

         11                 This is a very bad time to own a

         12  motion picture theater.  Motion picture theatrical

         13  revenue through box office is $9 billion a year

         14  which is a very big business.  Revenue to studios

         15  from DVD and video sales is approaching $30 billion

         16  a year.

         17                 Motion picture production companies,

         18  the studios no longer own the theaters.  Fifty,

         19  sixty years ago when you would go to a movie, you

         20  would see a double- feature, you would see coming

         21  attractions, you would see the coming attractions,

         22  it would say`next week in this theater', this was

         23  before television, before television advertising, it

         24  was the only contact the audience had with what was

         25  going to be shown in that theater.  The coming
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          2  attractions were buffeted with newsreels, which are

          3  no longer produced because of television news, for

          4  which I am personally thankful.  There was a

          5  cartoon, which was produced just for that motion

          6  picture chain.  That is no long produced, and what

          7  we are victims of as consumers is a tradition being

          8  corrupted.

          9                 We would not mind sitting through one

         10  or two coming attractions but when it becomes 20

         11  minutes, and I agree with Council Person Brewer, I

         12  had a little seven- year- old boy and we will go see

         13  commercials that are inappropriate, and although the

         14  trailers have been rated as appropriate to general

         15  audiences, they will often be for movies that I

         16  would rather not have my seven year- old son know

         17  about.

         18                 The specific situation for the

         19  theater owners is that they are in trouble.  They

         20  are in serious business trouble. Fifteen weeks,

         21  consecutively, this year box office grosses are down

         22  from where they were next (sic) year, and there is

         23  no reason to assume that trend is not going to

         24  continue.  It is not because the movies are bad.  I

         25  am surprised at the quality of films in the
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          2  beginning of summer aimed at wide audiences, kids

          3  movies, grown- up movies, some very good movies out

          4  there.  But there are just too many options,

          5  including games, video games, including waiting two

          6  months, three months, four months for the DVD to

          7  come out.

          8                 So in dealing with the theater

          9  owners, the thing that surprises me and a point that

         10  I was going to make, it is like, I do feel sorry for

         11  these people, it is like being a Yugo dealer ten

         12  years ago, or an Edsel dealer fifty years ago.  They

         13  are more often than not, selling a product no one

         14  wants to buy, but what you do when you have a

         15  product that no one wants to buy, is you make it

         16  cheaper, and you make it easier, and for some

         17  reason, they have gone the other way.  They have

         18  made it more expensive- $10.00 is a lot of money

         19  because most people do not go to the movies alone.

         20  You take your family to the movies, it is $100.00

         21  night.  That is a considerable amount of money, and

         22  the NATO's metaphor about`well, it costs more to go

         23  to baseball game, and it costs more money to go to a

         24  theater', well, a baseball game and a theater are

         25  non- repeatable events.  They happen live.  A movie,
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          2  you can run that 24 hours a day for ever without any

          3  additional cost.

          4                 I am really proud, of course, proud

          5  to be a New Yorker, and I am really proud that New

          6  York City is the first city to take this issue on.

          7                 If you people can compromise with the

          8  theater owners, that would be wonderful.  But my

          9  question is, these proposals, yes, we will put it in

         10  the box office, and we will put it on- line- why

         11  aren't they doing it now?

         12                 Why have they waited for you to tell

         13  them?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

         15  very much.

         16                 Thank you, Mark.

         17                 Thank you, Mr. Siegel.

         18                 Mark is a neighbor, so I really

         19  appreciate his articulateness.

         20                 One of the questions I have is, I

         21  understand that in Paris and London- we had staff

         22  members over there on vacation, and they come back.

         23  Paris and London now are listing the different

         24  times, obviously, people in Paris and London are

         25  interested in being educated consumers.
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          2                 Mark talked a little bit about a

          3  compromise.

          4                 Do you, Mr. Siegel, have any

          5  suggestions?

          6                 I know there is everything from the

          7  print size to the fact that people think they want

          8  to get an early seat.  I must admit, I mean I feel

          9  that the possibility of this trailer/ad going even

         10  longer is real, particularly because after what

         11  you--.

         12                 MR. SIEGEL:  Absolutely.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: -- just said,

         14  revenue is a problem.

         15                 So, I am just wondering if you had

         16  any suggestions, or you could, perhaps, get back to

         17  us about some ideas on some compromise?

         18                 MR. SIEGEL:  What happen with the

         19  trailers, the theater owners do not get any revenue

         20  from the trailers whatsoever. It comes from the

         21  distributor.  The motion picture studios, and the

         22  distributors are the same entity.

         23                 They have discovered, this is the

         24  perfect place to advertise their films, of course it

         25  is because you are advertising films to people who
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          2  are sitting in a movie theater, and that is your

          3  best potential audience.

          4                 Something has to be done with these

          5  people, and say,`you can only run two, you can only

          6  run three.'  There is also a situation that we have

          7  all been in where when the trailers come up, the

          8  volume is ear piercingly loud.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Oh, yes.

         10                 MR. SIEGEL:  That is a problem too

         11  that someone should address.

         12                 I would think the compromise that is

         13  happening in Connecticut with Loews Theaters saying

         14  the feature will start 15 minutes after the posted

         15  time, that is fine.  Something else that Loews

         16  Theaters does, what Mr. Sunshine was having

         17  difficulty seemingly explaining, is they run

         18  commercials but they run commercials as a block, and

         19  the commercials as a block are run before the posted

         20  time when the lights are in on the theater, when

         21  people are cleaning up and doing things like that.

         22                 However, to be fair, four percent of

         23  $9 billion, Councilman Addabbo do you have your

         24  calculator- is $360 million, that is a pretty- four

         25  percent does not sound like much, but $360 million
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          2  is a pretty fair chunk of change.

          3                 MR. HUISMAN:  I also just wanted to

          4  add, in partial response to that, that I think it is

          5  interesting that this hearing followed the

          6  discussion about the measure you just passed that

          7  had to do with immigration and the vendor licenses,

          8  and I just want to put out there that I think we

          9  need to remember, though a lot of who work in these

         10  theaters who have minimum wage jobs come from the

         11  very same community that you were just so careful to

         12  protect, and the concerns that the theater owners

         13  have about economics are really real.

         14                 I wish that I had thought to bring

         15  with me a copy of this weeks Variety, which on any

         16  given week will show you, in a very graphic way, the

         17  number of screens that got built in a geographic

         18  region and the number of screens that closed.  Now

         19  part of that is the result of overzealous

         20  overexpansion, and will have to work itself out in

         21  the marketplace but one of the things that we have

         22  in New York, and I think that Joel probably values

         23  this as much as I do, and I know as much as my

         24  friends in Paris or London do, is the range of

         25  choice that we have over the kinds of movies that we
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          2  have, and I just really, again, would encourage us

          3  moving forward to think of this as an opportunity,

          4  not just to better inform the movie going public and

          5  keep them engaged in what is becoming a dying

          6  business, but to re- energize that business and to

          7  find ways to make it more viable with people, and I

          8  will be more than happy to put my thinking cap on

          9  and e- mail you some further thoughts on this.

         10                 MR. SIEGEL:  Also, New Yorkers are

         11  very social people and we are different than people

         12  in the rest of the country in the way we interact

         13  and it effects the way we go to films.  New Yorkers

         14  go to more movies than other people.  The New York

         15  Metropolitan area as ten percent of the country,

         16  traditionally, does 15 to 20 percent of the box

         17  office of a major film.

         18                 Only in New York situations- I

         19  remember there was a theater on 57th Street that

         20  specialized in foreign language films, and you could

         21  go there, and the first few times I went there as a

         22  college kid, I would see people signing- during

         23  intermission I realized`well yes, this is where

         24  people who are deaf go because all the films have

         25  subtitles- isn't that great?
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          2                 Mr. Sunshine mentioned 78 percent of

          3  people poled do not care about the commercials at

          4  the start of the film.  Those are not New Yorkers.

          5  Those are not people who walk to the theater, and

          6  New Yorkers walk to motion theaters.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Mr. Sunshine, I am

          8  going to give you fair, equal time if you need it,

          9  so do not feel abused in the back row there.

         10                 MR. SUNSHINE:  I appreciate that Mr.

         11  Reed because there are too many

         12  misrepresentations--.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, fair enough.

         14                 MR. HUISMAN:  Let me just also add

         15  that in response to your, I think, real concern

         16  about nature and the size of print advertisements,

         17  which I have to sometimes squint to read too, if I

         18  did not make that clear I apologize to the esteemed

         19  members before me.  But I think that that is always

         20  going to be a problem anytime an ad shrinks below a

         21  half- a- page, and that just has to do with the

         22  amount of visual that takes up- the critic blocks,

         23  and the times that are left for the movie times at

         24  the bottom.

         25                 What we are really talking about, I
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          2  think, is effecting in the first couple weeks of a

          3  run of a movie, giving consumers the choice between

          4  being in the theater for the coming attractions and

          5  the commercials, or arriving at the moment the movie

          6  starts.

          7                 I really believe that is a legitimate

          8  legislative concern for this Body, and for the

          9  Council at large, and I do not believe in the long

         10  run it is going to be harmful to Mr. Sunshine's

         11  businesses.

         12                 I would be more than happy to be a

         13  part of that ongoing discussion.  It is my

         14  experience that when people are better informed

         15  consumers, they make better and more loyal consumer

         16  choices.  I do not think there is any marketing

         17  research that contradicts that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Council Member

         19  Gentile.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Thank you,

         21  Mr. Chairman.

         22                 I just had a comment, and I am

         23  supportive of this bill but I saw something on

         24  television last night that struck me.

         25                 During a newscast on FOX5 News, they
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          2  actually in form of a movie review, they actually

          3  showed the entire trailer for Mr. And Mrs. Smith,

          4  the new movie, and I sat there and it went on for

          5  minutes on end, and it was during the newscast, and

          6  no comment, they had the voiceover, the voiceover of

          7  the trailer, and you sat there for minutes, and I

          8  could just imagine being multiplied three or four

          9  times, sitting there in the theater.  But is this a

         10  new trend now?  I mean think if it is a movie

         11  review, I would much rather listen to Joel Siegel

         12  give a review of Mr. And Mrs. Smith, than sit there

         13  and watch a three or four minute trailer on FOX5

         14  News.

         15                 MS. SIEGEL:  Thank you, Councilman

         16  Gentile.  Tune in tomorrow on Eyewitness News.

         17                 It perhaps is no coincidence that the

         18  studio that produced Mr. And Mrs. Smith is 20th

         19  Century Fox.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And I think that

         21  really is a problem because most people are not

         22  aware of the conglomerates. Maybe you should get off

         23  that FOX News for more than just that

         24  but--.

         25                 MR. SIEGEL:  Do your constituents
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          2  know that you watch that?  This is New York City by

          3  the way.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Yes, we would like

          5  to know that FOX News shows the unabridged version

          6  of the City Council hearings too and does not

          7  lambast our Speaker inappropriately.  That is a plug

          8  right there.

          9                 Anyway, thank you all very much, and

         10  thank you, Mr. Sunshine, and I know that Council

         11  Member Brewer is interested in pursuing this, and

         12  from what I am hearing from my colleagues, we would

         13  like to come to some compromise.  We do not want to

         14  impose things on people but I think there are real

         15  issues to be addressed.

         16                 So, thank you all very much for your

         17  patience and your time.

         18                 Unless I see any other reason to,

         19  not, this hearing is adjourned.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 (Hearing adjourned 11:55 a.m.)
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